# Bylaws for the Florida State University College of Fine Arts

# **Record of Substantive Revisions and Amendments to these Bylaws**

Revised and approved by the CFA Faculty 09/29/2023, 02/07/2025

Approved by Faculty Development & Advancement 10/03/2023, 02/10/2025

These are the bylaws for the College of Fine Arts at Florida State University. These bylaws were last approved on 02/07/2025 by a majority of the applicable voting members of the College and on 02/10/2025 by the Office of Faculty Development and Advancement.

### **Preamble**

These Bylaws of the College of Fine Arts (College) define procedures under which the College faculty and administrators conduct the business of the College through shared governance grounded in acceptance of mutual accountability, respect, transparency, and a commitment to upholding the highest standards of excellence in its graduate and undergraduate programs of study, research, and service to the community and profession.

These Bylaws are subject to the authority of the Florida State University (University or FSU) Constitution, the rules and regulations of the Board of Governors (BOG) and the University Board of Trustees (BOT), the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the BOT and the United Faculty of Florida (UFF), and Florida and Federal Statutes. If any provision of these Bylaws is in conflict with such authorities, it shall not apply, but the other provisions shall continue in force and effect.

### Mission Statement

The College of Fine Arts at Florida State University is dedicated to fostering artistic excellence, creative exploration, and scholarly inquiry across diverse disciplines. Our renowned faculty and staff educate and empower students to become visionary performers, artists, educators, art historians, designers, curators, art therapists, researchers, and arts administrators who shape the future of the visual arts, applied arts, therapeutic arts, performing arts, and design. Through passionate teaching, community engagement, innovative research, and artistic practice we enrich lives, elevate artistic expression, and inspire positive change and well-being in society.

# I. Bylaws

A. Adherence with Other Governing Documents. At all times, College policy shall adhere to and be consistent with all university policies found in the FSU Constitution, the Florida State University Board of Trustees-United Faculty of Florida Collective Bargaining Agreement (BOT-UFF-CBA), the Faculty Handbook, and the Annual Memorandum on the Promotion and Tenure Process issued by the Office of Faculty Development and Advancement.

# B. Bylaws Revision.

- 1. Amendments to these Bylaws may be proposed on the written request of ten per cent of the Faculty or on the request of the Dean. The amendment shall be discussed at a general meeting of the Faculty, and the amendment may itself be amended by majority vote at that meeting if a quorum is present.
- 2. The proposed amendment shall be made available to the Faculty at least two weeks in advance of the meeting at which it will be discussed. The amendment becomes part of the Bylaws if approved by two thirds of the ballots cast in an electronic ballot of the Faculty and at least half of the Faculty cast ballots.
- **C. Substantive Change Statement.** Faculty and staff members are expected to be familiar with and follow the Florida State University Substantive Change Policy as found on the university website https://sacs.fsu.edu/substantive-change-policy/.

# II. Membership and Voting Rights

- **A. Faculty Membership.** The Faculty of the College of Fine Arts shall consist of those persons who hold the rank of Eminent Scholar, Professor, Associate Professor, or Assistant Professor, and those persons who hold full-time appointments as Specialized Faculty in the College. These persons shall hereafter be referred to as the Faculty.
- **B. College Membership.** In addition to the Faculty defined under II.A above, the following are Members of the College of Fine Arts: all persons who hold full-time staff appointments in the College, all persons who hold part-time staff appointments in the College, all guest or visiting instructional or research faculty members with full-time or part-time appointments in the College, and all adjunct instructors in the College. These persons shall hereafter be referred to as Non-faculty Members.
- **C. Faculty Voting Rights.** The Faculty as defined under Section II.A above have voting rights in the College to resolve on any matter addressed under Section III.A below, and with regard to the organization, governance, and jurisdiction of the College as addressed in these Bylaws.
- **D. Non-faculty Voting Rights.** The Non-faculty Members as defined under Section II.B above do not have voting rights to resolve on matters addressed under Section III.A below, or with regard to the organization, governance, and jurisdiction of the College as addressed in these Bylaws.

# III. College Organization and Governance

### A. Jurisdiction.

- 1. The basic legislative body of the College of Fine Arts shall consist of the voting Faculty in the College, as defined under Section II.A above as those persons who hold the rank of Eminent Scholar, Professor, Associate Professor, or Assistant Professor, and those persons who hold full-time appointments as Specialized Faculty in the College. Subject to state law, the regulations of the Florida Board of Governors (BOG, FSU Board of Trustees (BOT), and the Constitution of FSU, this legislative body shall have full authority to develop policy and decide matters of curriculum, program offerings, admissions, grading standards, degree requirements in the existing academic programs, and any other academic matters of concern to the College.
- 2. The Faculty may resolve on any issue of general interest to the University or College and make recommendations to the appropriate officer or body.
- 3. The Faculty may solicit input from its members on any issue of interest to the Faculty or College and make recommendations to the Dean, other appropriate officers of the College, or any relevant committee or body established to serve the interests of the College.
- 4. Through these Bylaws, the Faculty has delegated to committees authority over specified matters. Such delegated authority may only be overridden by revision of the Bylaws. The units of the College are delegated authority to establish their own policies to the extent that they do not conflict with the College Bylaws, the policies established by the Faculty, the Constitution of FSU, the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the BOT and the UFF, and the regulations of the BOG.
- 5. The Faculty may directly or through designated committee representatives raise for consideration by the Faculty issues relating to College-wide policies on academic matters, including, but not limited to, curriculum, admissions, grading standards, and degree requirements in the existing academic programs.
- 6. The Faculty may directly or through designated committee representatives make recommendations to the Dean with regard to the development of new academic programs or new or expanded degrees offered within existing academic programs.
- 7. The Faculty may directly or through designated committee representatives make recommendations to the Dean with regard to academic program funding, fiscal management of College resources, allocation of College resources, allocation of staff positions within the College, and faculty hiring.

- 8. Should the Faculty resolve to undertake a formal decision-making process on matters under its direct jurisdiction or about which it may elect to advise or make recommendations to the Dean, all members of the Faculty shall be given an opportunity to participate through an electronic balloting system that provides each Faculty member with equal access, clear and unbiased language on the issue to be decided, a period of time sufficient to consider the import of the proposed decision before submitting a ballot, and the opportunity to remain anonymous throughout the process.
- 9. Information concerning any such formal decision-making process, along with an electronic link to the balloting system, shall be transmitted to all members of the Faculty via their University e-mail address. Balloting shall remain open to the Faculty for a minimum of two business days and a maximum of five business days from the transmittal of the e-mail to allow Faculty a sufficient period to participate in voting. Determination of the issue shall be decided by a simple majority of the Faculty participating in the balloting.

# **B.** College Faculty Meetings.

- **1.** The Faculty shall meet upon the call of the Dean or at the request of at least twenty percent (20%) of the Faculty.
- 2. The Faculty shall meet at least once each academic year during the contracted period for nine-month faculty. Such meetings shall occur upon the call of the Dean. At the meeting, the Dean shall report on the state of the College, and a representative from each standing committee shall report on the activities of that committee.
- **3.** The Dean shall be the Presiding Officer at meetings of the Faculty. In the Dean's absence, a person designated by the Dean shall preside.
- **4.** Fifty-one percent (51%) shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Faculty.
- **C. College Leadership.** The leadership of the College of Fine Arts shall consist of the positions of Dean, Associate Dean(s), Chairpersons, and Directors.

### 1. Dean.

- a. The Dean serves at the behest of the Provost, who reviews the Dean.
- b. Authority to decide or resolve issues relating to the development of new academic programs or the development of new or expanded degrees offered within existing academic programs resides with the Dean.

- c. Authority to decide or resolve issues of academic program funding, fiscal management of College resources, allocation of College resources, allocation of staff positions within the College, and faculty hiring resides with the Dean.
- d. The Dean may establish ad hoc committees as the Dean deems necessary to assist in the operation of the College.

# 2. Associate Dean(s)

- a. All Associate Deans shall be appointed by the Dean.
- b. Associate Deans serve at the behest of the Dean. The Dean shall be responsible for defining the scope of responsibilities and duties assigned to an Associate Dean. The Dean shall be responsible for developing and administering the evaluation and merit process for Associate Deans. Authority to appoint or retain an Associate Dean resides with the Dean. The responsibilities of an Associate Dean may include the administration of student affairs, including enrollment, budgets, student life; the supervision and management of student recruiting and admissions activities; and the supervision and management of related work performed by Faculty and Non- faculty Members of the College.
- c. The responsibilities of an Associate Dean may include the administration of academic affairs, including development and advancement of Faculty and Non-faculty Members of the College, College accreditation, and curriculum development, approval, and assessment.
- d. The responsibilities of an Associate Dean may include administration of research supporting activities directed at stimulating new and continued research projects and activities in the College, assisting Faculty and Nonfaculty Members of the College in the proposal development process, and ensuring best practices in the management and oversight of funded research initiatives.
- e. An Associate Dean assists in the administration of the College, supporting strategic initiatives, interfacing between College units and the Dean's office, and represents the College as needed in matters before University administration.

### 3. Chairpersons and Unit Directors

a. The Chairpersons and Unit Directors shall be appointed by the Dean and will serve at the Dean's discretion. The Dean shall initiate the process for filling these positions by notifying the relevant department or unit of the

- upcoming vacancy and outlining the timeline and criteria for the selection process. Faculty members are invited to nominate colleagues or self-nominate for consideration for the position. Departments or units are encouraged to submit their recommendations consistent with the timeline and procedures established by the Dean, including written feedback for each nominee, solicited from all Faculty. The Dean will review all nominations and feedback; the final decision to appoint or reappoint a Chairperson or Unit Director remains at the sole discretion of the Dean.
- b. The role of a Chairperson or Director in the College of Fine Arts at Florida State University is to serve as the primary leader of their department or unit. The responsibilities of a Chairperson or Director include overseeing academic programs, managing administrative affairs such as budgets and personnel, advocating for departmental needs to the dean, and ensuring faculty governance at the department level. They also handle strategic planning, faculty evaluations, budget management, faculty and staff oversight, student recruitment and advisement, and maintain accreditation standards.
- c. Associate and Assistant Department Chairpersons serve at the behest of the Department Chairperson in consultation with the Dean. The units of the College may adopt policies and procedures to identify and recommend Faculty members to serve as an Associate or Assistant Chairperson. The Department Chairperson shall be responsible for developing and administering the evaluation process for any Associate or Assistant Chairperson in their unit. Authority to appoint or retain an Associate or Assistant Chairperson resides with the Department Chairperson in consultation with the Dean, and all such appointments require the approval of the Dean.
- **D. College Committees.** The Faculty recognizes the critical importance of committee service in ensuring that the College exemplifies professionalism, equity, transparency, respect, and accountability in the programs and projects that it undertakes to serve its diverse student, faculty, staff, and community stakeholders. The Faculty recognizes that committee service is a shared responsibility of all members of the Faculty. The standing committees of the College shall consist of the following: Promotion and Tenure Committee, Curriculum Committee, Awards and Scholarship Committee, Bylaws Committee, and Ad Hoc Committees. Search Committees may be established by the Dean and Chairs or Directors to assist in the recruitment and screening of applicants for continuing faculty positions.
  - 1. Promotion and Tenure Committee.

- a. The College Promotion and Tenure Committee shall advise the Dean regarding faculty tenure and promotion based upon criteria set forth by Florida Statutes, the BOG, the BOT, the University, the College of Fine Arts, and the BOT-United Faculty of Florida (UFF) Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- b. The College Promotion and Tenure Committee shall consist of one tenured faculty member from each of the academic units within the College to be elected by the faculty of that academic unit. Membership on the Promotion and Tenure Committee is staggered: members serve two-year terms with three members elected in odd-numbered years and three members elected in even-numbered years. The Office of the Dean shall notify the academic units when the election for a unit representative to the College Promotion and Tenure Committee must be conducted. When a specialized faculty member is under review for promotion, the committee membership shall include a specialized faculty member appointed to serve as an ad hoc member for that case. This specialized faculty member shall be selected based on their rank and area of expertise to align with the candidate's field and shall have full voting rights for the duration of the review.
- c. The College Promotion and Tenure Committee elects a chair that oversees the work of the committee and conducts all meetings.
- d. The College Promotion and Tenure Committee elects a representative to serve on the University Promotion and Tenure Committee. This individual may also be the Chair of the College committee.
- e. The Associate/Assistant Dean responsible for faculty development or other designee of the Dean within the College shall advise the Promotion and Tenure Committee, but this individual shall not be a voting member of the committee.
- f. The guidelines followed by the College Promotion and Tenure Committee are the same as those of the University. In reviewing a candidate for promotion or tenure, consideration is given to the three traditional areas in a manner that acknowledges the faculty member's annual assignment of responsibilities which may include: demonstrated evidence of effective teaching, research/creative activity, and service to the University and the profession.
- g. Each academic unit in the College shall have a committee charged with evaluating candidates for, and making recommendations on, promotions and tenure. The membership of these committees shall be determined by each academic unit in accordance with University guidelines. These departmental recommendations shall be submitted to the College Promotion and Tenure Committee.

h. The College Promotion and Tenure Committee shall forward its recommendations to the Dean, who shall forward them to the University Promotion and Tenure Committee, along with the Dean's recommendation.

### 2. Curriculum Committee.

- a. The Curriculum Committee shall review and make advisory recommendations regarding curricular changes, new course proposals, academic matters requiring Faculty action, and matters referred to the committee by the Dean.
- b. Each of the College's academic units shall elect a Faculty representative to serve a two-year term on the Curriculum Committee.
- c.Membership on the Curriculum Committee is staggered: members serve twoyear terms with three members elected in odd-numbered years and three members elected in even-numbered years.

# 3. Awards and Scholarship Committee.

- a. The Awards and Scholarship Committee shall administer College-wide awards and scholarships.
- b. Each of the College's academic units shall elect a Faculty representative to serve a two-year term on the Awards and Scholarship Committee.
- c. Membership on the Awards and Scholarship Committee is staggered: members serve two-year terms with three members elected in odd-numbered years and three members elected in even-numbered years.

### 4. Bylaws Committee.

- a. The Bylaws Committee shall review the College Bylaws and recommend potential revisions and amendments to be voted on by the Faculty.
- b. Each of the College's units shall elect a Faculty representative to serve a two- year term on the Bylaws Committee.
- c. Membership on the Bylaws Committee is staggered: members serve two-year terms with three members elected in odd-numbered years and three members elected in even-numbered years.
- d. The Bylaws Committee shall perform a complete review of all of the College Bylaws every three years.
- e. The Bylaws Committee shall serve in an advisory capacity on matters relating to the bylaws of the College's units.

### 5. Ad Hoc Committees.

a. The Dean may establish Ad Hoc Committees as the Dean deems necessary to assist in the operation of the College. Faculty may be requested or appointed to serve on Ad Hoc Committees formed by the Dean.

**E. Faculty Senators.** Each of the College's academic units shall elect an eligible Faculty member from that unit to serve as its representative on the Faculty Senate. If the College is allocated more Faculty Senate seats than the number of academic units in the College, additional representatives will be elected by the Faculty to fill those seats. In addition, the Faculty will elect a representative to serve as an alternate Faculty Senator. The Office of the Dean coordinates the election of Faculty Senate Representatives through ballot distribution. All eligible faculty are included on the ballot. Votes are tallied to determine representatives to the Faculty Senate. The College adheres to University standards regarding the number of individuals selected, individuals eligible for service, and voting eligibility (https://facultyhandbook.fsu.edu/handbook-sections/section-3-faculty-governance; here incorporated by reference as revised in February 2024, and as may be further revised by the Faculty Senate subsequent to the adoption of these bylaws).

**F. Unit Reorganization.** Specific procedures related to the consideration of matters of unit reorganization may be addressed in the bylaws adopted by the Faculty members of each unit of the College. Any proposed unit reorganization originating from a unit of the College would be advisory in nature and subject to review and approval by the Dean. As described under Section III.C.1 above, the authority to decide or resolve issues relating to the development of new academic programs and the funding and management of College resources resides with the Dean.

**G. Faculty Recruitment.** The recruitment of faculty members shall be conducted with the utmost commitment to academic excellence. The selection process will be transparent, merit-based, and aligned with the institution's strategic goals. All candidates will be evaluated on their academic credentials, expertise, teaching effectiveness, and potential to contribute to the University's mission.

# 1. Requesting Vacant Faculty Lines.

- a. The Dean maintains the authority to make final decisions in the dissemination of vacant faculty lines.
- b. Chairpersons or Directors must submit a formal, written request to the Dean's Office for any vacant or vacating faculty lines the Unit seeks to retain using the Request for Allocation of Faculty Line form. The request shall include a detailed justification for the need, enrollment data, and an outline of how the position will align with the Unit's, College's, and University's strategic goals.
- c. Upon receiving the request and supporting documentation, the Dean will

conduct a thorough evaluation. The evaluation will consider factors such as budget constraints, alignment with the University and College priorities, and the overall benefit to the Unit.

d. Notification of decision will be communicated to departments by email. Positions should not be advertised or planned until approval is received.

# 2. Faculty Recruitment Process

- a. Prior to advertising, all faculty job postings will need review and approval by department administration and the Dean's Office.
- b. The Department Chair or Unit Director of the hiring department shall appoint a Search Committee and designate a Committee Chair when a new, full-time faculty position in the Department has been authorized. After the formation of the Search Committee, and prior to engaging in recruitment activity, the Department Chair or Unit Director shall meet with the Search Committee to provide a charge of expectations.
- c. In the case where a new, full-time leadership position in the College has been authorized, the Dean shall appoint a Search Committee and designate a Committee Chair. Prior to engaging in recruitment activities, the Dean shall meet with the Search Committee Chair to provide a charge and establish expectations.
- d. After the completion of the candidate interviews, the Search Committee Chair shall submit the Committee's recommendations to the Dean that includes a brief summary of up to three (3) candidates. The Search Committee will highlight the suitability of candidates relative to the job posting and to the needs of the department and provide these recommendations to the Dean. The Dean may establish expectations for the search process, including timelines, candidate evaluation criteria, and the format for submitting recommendations. The Dean retains the final authority in all hiring decisions.
- e. Appointment with tenure may be proposed by the Search Committee or the Dean. Recommendation of tenure upon appointment must be supported by a majority vote of the tenured Faculty in the hiring unit, in accordance with University Policy and Procedures.
- f. All Faculty engaged in recruitment will need to follow the College of Fine Arts Faculty Hiring Policy and Procedures document and adhere to University faculty hiring guidelines.

# IV. Degree Approval

Candidates are approved for final degree clearance through a two-stage

process. First, the academic unit reviews candidates to ensure that the candidate complies with all degree requirements set by the academic unit. Second, the Office of Academic and Student Services within the College works with the academic units and the University Registrar's office to ensure that candidates have successfully completed all degree requirements set by the University.

# V. Faculty Evaluation, Merit Review, and Assignments

**A. Evaluation and Merit Review.** Evaluation and Merit Review for Faculty shall be based on evidence of teaching effectiveness, research/creative activity, service, and any other duties. Evaluation and merit rankings are to be determined by use of the expectations documented within each unit of the College. Each Faculty member's individual Assignment of Responsibilities shall inform the weighting of evidence.

**B. Faculty Assignments.** Faculty assignments shall be determined by the head of the faculty member's home unit in accordance with University policies and regulations. Assignments must be reasonable and equitable, provide opportunities for faculty advancement within their promotional track, enable faculty to meet the home unit's criteria for merit salary increases, align with the faculty member's qualifications and experience, meet the University's twelve contact hours of instruction or equivalent research and service law, and fulfill the needs of the home unit. All faculty assignments must adhere to the provisions set forth in Article 9, Assignments of Responsibilities, of the FSU-BOT-UFF Collective Bargaining Agreement.

### 1. Department Chairpersons and Directors

- a. The Dean, in recognition of the administrative responsibilities and leadership duties of Department Chairs, has the authority to provide course releases each semester. This policy aims to ensure department chairs have adequate time to fulfill their administrative, strategic, and academic obligations effectively. Department Chairs are typically expected to teach a reduced load of one course per semester (1/1). This standard teaching load reflects the dual responsibilities of chairs in providing instructional support and managing departmental operations.
- Unit Directors and other members of the College's Leadership Team may also receive a reduction in their teaching assignments at the discretion of the Dean.

# 2. Tenure-Track Faculty

- a. Tenure-Track Faculty are responsible for teaching, research, service, and related administrative duties.
- b. In cases where Tenure-Track Faculty have approved instructional workload

substitutions, such as a course buy-out from a grant or course release for special assignments (e.g., extensive student advising or program administration duties), or for other purposes that advance the mission of the Unit, College, or University, the Chair must approve any changes from the standard teaching assignment. Any course releases that involve financial requests to the Dean's Office, such as funds needed to hire adjuncts or faculty overloads, require prior approval by the Dean, who has the discretion to deny any such financial request.

# 3. Specialized Faculty

a. Specialized Faculty assignments emphasize either teaching, research and creative activity, or instructional activity, in accordance with the classification and the designated job class specifications consistent with the Faculty Handbook.